NATIONAL GRIEVANCE
NG-09/10/21
Date: September 10, 2021
To:

Ophelia Ann Vicks
Acting Executive Director
Office of Labor-Management Relations
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
ophelia.vicks@va.gov
VALMRLitigation@va.gov
Sent via electronic mail only

From: Christopher Zatratz, Staff Counsel, National Veterans Affairs Council (#53) (“NVAC”),
American Federation of Government Employees, AFL-CIO (“AFGE”)
RE:

National Grievance against the Department of Veterans Affairs for misclassifying
Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine Technologists, Respiratory Therapists, and
Program Specialists as exempt employees under the FLSA
STATEMENT OF CHARGES

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 43, Section 11 of the Master Agreement Between the
Department of Veterans Affairs and the American Federation of Government Employees (2011)
(“MCBA” or “Master Agreement”), the American Federation of Government Employees/National
Veterans Affairs Council (“the Union”) is filing this National Grievance against you and all other
associated officials and/or individuals acting as agents on behalf of the Department of Veterans
Affairs (“Department”) for misclassifying Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine Technologists,
Respiratory Therapists, and Program Specialists as exempt employees under the Fair Labor
Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §201, et seq.. The Department also failed to bargain this
change in conditions of employment with the Union. To date, the Department has failed to remedy
this violation and as such continues to violate the MCBA and federal law.
Specifically, the Department violated Articles 2, 3, 36, 47, and 49 of the MCBA; 5 U.S.C.
§7116(a), Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) regulations, the FLSA, and any and all other
relevant articles, laws, regulations, customs, and past practices not herein specified. The Union
specifically reserves the right to supplement this grievance based upon the discovery of new
evidence or information of which it is not presently aware, or otherwise, as necessary.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Background

A. Violation of FLSA and Government-Wide Regulations
The Department has the burden to demonstrate an employee’s exemption status under the
FLSA. An employee is presumed to be nonexempt unless an agency correctly determines that the
employee clearly meets the requirements of one or more FLSA exemptions. See 5 C.F.R.
§551.202 (a). FLSA exemption determinations depend on the duties actually performed by the
employee. See 5 C.F.R. § 551.202 (e). By failing to remit timely and proper compensation to
bargaining unit employees, the Department has further violated Article 36 of the 2011 Master
Agreement.
What’s more, the Department’s misclassification of Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine
Technologists, Respiratory Therapists, and Program Specialists as exempt employees under the
Fair Labor Standards Act is an ongoing and continuing violation. The MCBA allows the filing
party to file a national grievance “at any time if the act or occurrence is continuing[.]” MCBA,
Article 43, Section 11(A). Here, each affected bargaining unit employee will continue to lose
overtime pay in violation of the FLSA, 5 C.F.R. §551.501, and related regulations. Therefore, to
date, the Department has failed reclassify Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine Technologists,
Respiratory Therapists, and Program Specialists as nonexempt employees and as such continues
to violate the MCBA and federal law.
I.

Acupuncturists

On August 5, 2021, the Department announced its reclassification of Acupuncturists as
exempt employees under the FLSA. Attachment A. The Department cited its revision of the
qualification standard for Acupuncturists as the reason for the change. Attachment B. The
Department last updated the qualification standard for Acupuncturists over three and a half years
ago, on February 7, 2018. See VA Handbook 5005/100, Part II, Appendix G53. Here,
Acupuncturists perform substantially similar job duties that they performed as nonexempt
employees. As such, the Department’s misclassification of Acupuncturists as exempt violates the
statutory and regulatory requirements governing employee classification under the FLSA,
including 5 C.F.R. §551.207 and related regulations.
The Department’s misclassification of Acupuncturists as exempt employees has resulted
in the loss of overtime pay in violation of the FLSA, 5 C.F.R. §551.501, and related regulations.
As non-exempt employees, Acupuncturists are entitled to overtime pay at one and one-half times
their regular rate of pay.
II.

Nuclear Medicine Technologists

On July 30, 2021, the Department announced its reclassification of Nuclear Medicine
Technologists as exempt employees under the FLSA. Attachment C. The Department last
updated the qualification standard for Nuclear Medicine Technologists on December 10, 2019.
See VA Handbook 5005/125, Part II, Appendix G19. Here, Nuclear Medicine Technologists
perform substantially similar job duties that they performed as nonexempt employees. As such,
the Department’s misclassification of Nuclear Medicine Technologists as exempt violates the
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statutory and regulatory requirements governing employee classification under the FLSA,
including 5 C.F.R. §551.207 and related regulations.
The Department’s misclassification of Nuclear Medicine Technologists as exempt
employees has resulted in the loss of overtime pay in violation of the FLSA, 5 C.F.R. §551.501,
and related regulations. As non-exempt employees, Nuclear Medicine Technologists are entitled
to overtime pay at one and one-half times their regular rate of pay.
III.

Respiratory Therapists

Following the Department’s March 12, 2021 revision of the qualification standard for
Respiratory Therapists, the Department reclassified Respiratory Therapists as exempt employees
under the FLSA. See VA Handbook 5005/141, Part II, Appendix G11. Here, Respiratory
Therapists perform substantially similar job duties that they performed as nonexempt employees.
As such, the Department’s misclassification of Respiratory Therapists as exempt violates the
statutory and regulatory requirements governing employee classification under the FLSA,
including 5 C.F.R. §551.207 and related regulations.
The Department’s misclassification of Respiratory Therapists as exempt employees has
resulted in the loss of overtime pay in violation of the FLSA, 5 C.F.R. §551.501, and related
regulations. As non-exempt employees, Respiratory Therapists are entitled to overtime pay at
one and one-half times their regular rate of pay.
IV.

Program Specialists

The Department also reclassified Program Specialists as exempt employees under the
FLSA.1 Here, Program Specialists perform substantially similar job duties that they performed as
nonexempt employees. As such, the Department’s misclassification of Program Specialists as
exempt violates the statutory and regulatory requirements governing employee classification
under the FLSA, including 5 C.F.R. §551.207 and related regulations.
The Department’s misclassification of Program Specialists as exempt employees has
resulted in the loss of overtime pay in violation of the FLSA, 5 C.F.R. §551.501, and related
regulations. As non-exempt employees, Program Specialists are entitled to overtime pay at one
and one-half times their regular rate of pay.
B. Failure to Bargain
Articles 47 and 49 of the MCBA require the Department to bargain with the Union over
changes to conditions of employment. Additionally, under section 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the
Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, the Union must be given adequate notice
and a pre-implementation opportunity to bargain before the Department may lawfully implement
changes in working conditions affecting unit employees.

1

The affected bargaining unit employees include those at the Atlanta VA Health Care System, at a minimum. The
Union reserves the right to supplement this list, as needed.
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Here, the revision to the qualification standards changed conditions of employment for
Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine Technologists, Respiratory Therapists, and Program
Specialists, the Department failed to provide the Union with notice and the opportunity to
bargain prior to implementing this change. In addition to the violations listed above, the
Department’s failure to bargain over these changes amounted to an unfair labor practice. See 5
U.S.C. §7116(a)(1) and (5).
By failing to bargain with the Union, the Department committed an unfair labor practice
under section 7116(a)(1) and (5) and violated its contractual duty to bargain under Articles 47
and 49 of the MCBA. In doing so, the Department also violated Article 2 of the MCBA, which
requires the Department to comply with applicable federal statutes and regulations in the
administration of matters covered by the MCBA. Finally, by failing to consult and negotiate in
good faith with the Union, the Department is in violation of Article 3 of the MCBA, which
encourages the Parties to maintain a cooperative labor-management relationship that is based on
mutual respect, open communication, consideration of each other’s views, and minimizing
collective bargaining disputes.
Violation
By failing to fulfill its obligations, the Department violated, and continues to violate, the
following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Article 2 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to comply with all federal law and
regulations;
Article 3 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to maintain an effective, cooperative
labor-management relationship with the Union;
Article 36 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to remit timely and proper
compensation to bargaining unit employees;
Article 47 and 49 of the MCBA: requiring the Department to bargain with the Union over
changes to conditions of employment;
5 U.S.C. §7116(a)(1) and (5): requiring the Department to consult and negotiate in good
faith with the Union;
29 U.S.C. §201, et seq: requiring the Department to pay certain overtime wages to nonexempt employees;
5 C.F.R. §551.207 and related regulations: prescribing the requirements for an exempt
employee;
5 C.F.R. §551.501 and related regulations: prescribing overtime requirements;
Any and all other relevant articles, laws, rules, regulations, customs, and past practices
not herein specified.

Remedies Requested
To remedy the above violations, the Union asks that the Department do the following:
1. To return to the status quo ante;
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2. To immediately reclassify Acupuncturists, Nuclear Medicine Technologists, Respiratory
Therapists, and Program Specialists as nonexempt employees under the FLSA;
3. To cease and desist further violations of the MCBA and federal law;
4. To fully comply with its contractual obligations under Articles 2, 3, 36, 47, and 49 of the
MCBA and its statutory obligations under Federal Service Labor-Management Relations
Statute and the FLSA;
5. To post an electronic notice, signed by the VA Secretary, to all AFGE bargaining unit
employees that the Department violated the law and that the Department will refrain from
further violations of the law;
6. To make whole the Union and any employee adversely affected by the Department’s
violations, including but not limited to, backpay and liquidated damages;
7. To pay reasonable attorney’s fees and costs under 29 U.S.C. §216(b); and
8. To agree to any and all other remedies appropriate in this matter.
Time Frame and Contact
This is a National Grievance, and the time frame for resolution of this matter is not
waived until the matter is resolved or settled. The undersigned is the designated representative
for this grievance. If you have any questions regarding this National Grievance, please contact
the undersigned at AFGE Office of the General Counsel.
_______________________________
Christopher Zatratz
Staff Counsel, National VA Council
Office of the General Counsel
AFGE, AFL-CIO
80 F Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
Tel: 202-639-6424
Fax: 202-379-2928
christopher.zatratz@afge.org
cc:

Alma L. Lee, President, AFGE/NVAC
William Wetmore, Chairperson, Grievance and Arbitration Committee, AFGE/NVAC
Thomas Dargon, Jr., Supervisory Attorney, AFGE/NVAC
Thomas McGuire, Deputy Director, VA/LMR
Roy Ferguson, Staff Director, VA/LMR
Donald Stephen, Director of Interventions & Training, VA/LMR
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Department of
Veterans Affairs

Memorandum

Date:

August 5, 2021

From:

Senior Strategic Business Partner for HR, James A. Haley Veterans’ Hospital and
Clinics (05)

Subj:

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) – Exempt Status for Acupuncturist

To:

Wanda Bellamy-White, President, American Federation of Government Employees
(AFGE) Local 547
1. As per Article 49, Section 4 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA)
between the Department of Veterans Affairs (VHA) and AFGE, we recognize our
responsibility to provide reasonable advance notice prior to changing conditions
of employment of Bargaining Unit Employees (BUEs).
2. This memorandum is to inform AFGE of the FLSA exempt status for assigned
Acupuncturist 0601 series.
3. As per the CBA, pertinent information regarding the change(s) is as follows:
a) Currently within the Whole Health Service, employees in the 0601
series, Acupuncturist, as determined by the FLSA, positions (attached), would
change from “non-exempt” to exempt status.
b) This change makes all assigned Acupuncturist assigned to exempt
status. All the positions shown on the attached spreadsheet will have their
positions corrected and affected employees notified.
c) This change is projected to take effect on August 29, 2021.
d) The change will not cause any debt to the affected employees.
However, the change to exempt status does affect time and a half and
overtime pay. The affected employees will still be entitled to receive straight
overtime pay (regular pay rate) when any overtime is executed.
e) This change will also correct their BUS codes to “professional” versus
non-professional, along with alignment under the correct cost center.
d) Information received regarding this change in exempt status will be
provided to the Whole Health Service for notification of the affected
employees.
4. Currently, the FLSA exemption applies to three (3) assigned Acupuncturist
shown on attached spreadsheet. We will notify each employee individually
regarding the exempt status determination. The records will be corrected (as
necessary) to indicate “exempt” effective August 29, 2021. It is important to note,
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the exempt status will not cause any debts. With the exempt status, the affected
employees will no longer be able to receive “time and a half” of overtime pay.
However, they will be entitled to straight overtime pay.
5. Please contact Alfredo Perez, Employee/Labor Relations Specialist, at
(813) 558-7627, if you require any further assistance. The VISN 8 Classification
Unit POC regarding this FLSA determination is: Michelle Ogilby, (813) 451-8818.

for

Andrew Sutton

Automated VA FORM 2105

Christopher Zatratz
From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
Subject:
Attachments:

Emery, Sandra <Sandra.Emery@va.gov>
Wednesday, August 4, 2021 4:50 PM
AFGE Local
VHANFL HRMS Labor Employee Relations
FW: FLSA - Hybrid Title 38 Qual Standard revision from 2018 - 0601 - Accupuncturist
FLSA_EXEMPTION_WORKSHEET_pdf_fillable.pdf

Please be advised that the below employee’s exemption will be changed from Non-Exempt to Exempt effective
08/29/2021 per VA guidance. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact our office via the email group listed
above.
From: Gelber, Andrea R. <Andrea.Gelber@va.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, August 4, 2021 9:08 AM
To: Emery, Sandra <Sandra.Emery@va.gov>
Cc: Price, Natalie M. <Natalie.Price@va.gov>
Subject: FLSA - Hybrid Title 38 Qual Standard revision from 2018 - 0601 - Accupuncturist
Good morning,
Per the Hybrid Title 38 Qual Standard revision done in 2018, it was determined that the FLSA for 0601 Accupuncturist
should be Exempt. With that being determined, leadership requested that the Manpower Unit correct the positions and
request that the SSBP notify their local union and employee that will be affected by these changes. Please see below
which employees will be corrected from NonExempt to Exempt effective 8/29/21. Please note, this will not cause any
debts. However, changing them to Exempt means they will no longer receive the time and a half overtime pay, but they
are still entitled to receive straight overtime pay.

POID

Station

Dept
ID

Dept Desc

Position
Number

3239

573

16885

ANESTHESIOLOGY SVC

91473822 573

Location

Location Desc

Job
Code

Pay
Plan

GAINESVILLE FL

370871 GS

Respectfully,

Andrea Gelber, MSM

Supervisor, Management and Program Analyst (Manpower Unit)
VHA Certified Mentor
VISN 8 Human Resources
Tel. 321-247-1284
Email: Andrea.Gelber@va.gov
How was your HR service today? Please take a few moments to complete the HR Customer Satisfaction Survey at
the following link: HR Customer Satisfaction Survey
Manpower Unit
Facility

Email Group

1

Grade

O
S

11

0

Bay Pines

VHAV08BAYManpowerUnit@va.gov

Tampa

VHAV08TAMManpowerUnit@va.gov

Orlando

VHAV08ORLManpowerUnit@va.gov

WPB

VHAV08WPBManpowerUnit@va.gov

NFSG

VHAV08NFLManpowerUnit@va.gov

San Juan

VHAV08SAJManpowerUnit@va.gov

Miami

VHAV08MIAManpowerUnit@va.gov

Network Office

VHAV08NetworkOfficeManpowerUnit@va.gov

From: Kemper, Alberta J. <Alberta.Kemper@va.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, July 28, 2021 11:13 AM
To: Gelber, Andrea R. <Andrea.Gelber@va.gov>; Price, Natalie M. <Natalie.Price@va.gov>; Twinn, Kimberly
<Kimberly.Twinn@va.gov>
Cc: Kemper, Alberta J. <Alberta.Kemper@va.gov>; Townley, Joseph B. <Joseph.Townley@va.gov>
Subject: FLSA_EXEMPTION_WORKSHEET_pdf_fillable.pdf
FLSA a determination is EXEMPT. Occupation meets the Learned Professional (5 CFR 551-208).
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Memorandum

Department of
Veterans Affairs
Date:

July 30, 2021

From:

Senior Strategic Business Partner,

Subj:

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)

To:

and Clinics (05)
Exempt Status for Nuclear Medicine Technologist

Wanda Bellamy-White, President, American Federation of Government Employees
(AFGE) Local 547
1. As per Article 49, Section 4 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA)
between the Department of Veterans Affairs (VHA) and AFGE, we recognize our
responsibility to provide reasonable advance notice prior to changing conditions
of employment of Bargaining Unit Employees (BUEs).
2. This memorandum is to inform AFGE of the FLSA exempt status as assigned
Nuclear Medicine Technologist 0601 series.
3. As per the CBA, pertinent information regarding the change(s) is as follows:
a) Currently within the Nuclear Medicine Service, employees in the 0601
series, Nuclear Medicine Technologist, as determined by the FLSA, positions
b) This change makes all assigned 0601 assigned to exempt status. All
the positions shown on the attached spreadsheet will have their positions
corrected and affected employees notified.
c) This change is projected to take effect on August 1, 2021.
d) The change will not cause any debt to the affected employees.
However, the change to exempt status does affect time and a half and
overtime pay. The affected employees will still be entitled to receive straight
overtime pay at their regular hourly rate when any overtime is executed.
non-professional, along with alignment under the correct cost center.
d) Information received regarding this change in exempt status will be
provided to the Nuclear Medicine Service for notification of the affected
employees.
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Automated VA FORM 2105

Exempt Status for Nuclear Medicine Technologist

4. Currently, the FLSA exemption applies to nine (9) assigned Nuclear Medicine
Technologists shown on attached spreadsheet. We will notify each employee
individually regarding the exempt status determination. The records will be
corrected (as necessary) to
It is
important to note, the exempt status will not cause any debts. With the exempt
of overtime pay. However, they will be entitled to straight overtime pay.
5. Please contact Grecia Clark, Employee/Labor Relations Specialist, at:
(813) 335-8679, if you require any further assistance. The VISN 8 Classification
Unit POC regarding this FLSA determination is: Michelle Ogilby, (813) 451-8818.

for

Andrew Sutton

Automated VA FORM 2105

FLSA EXEMPT STATUS
Nuclear Medical Technologist (NMT)
Station 673, POID 4047

Dept Desc

Position#

Pay
Plan

NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC
NUCLEAR MEDICAL SVC

90057818
90058297
90060499
90062400
90075699
90079418
90079563
90079606
91479476

GS
GS
GS
GS
GS
GS
GS
GS
GS

Grade

Occ
Series

Official
Position
Title

Reports To
Position
Number

Reports To
Name

Incumbent
Empl ID
Incumbent Name

09
09
11
11
11
09
09
11
09

0601
0601
0601
0601
0601
0601
0601
0601
0601

NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT
NMT

90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372
90079372

Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino
Lisa Guarino

00526963
00054232
00053754
00058320
00071535
00075223
00075367
00077161
00075409

Handville, Leah Jenean
Baker, Sherri K
Robb, Scott O
Bishop, Russell L
Petersen, Joyce L
Mack-Laplant, Benjamin R
Mack-Laplant, Merly
Maiville, Timothy M
Kaylor, Kimberly A

